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              December 2, 2010 

 
IA-10-026 
 
Mr. Richard Montgomery 
[HOME ADDRESS DELETED 
UNDER 10 CFR 2.390] 
 
SUBJECT: NOTICE OF VIOLATION  

(NRC OFFICE OF INVESTIGATION REPORT NO. 2-2009-024)  
 
Dear Mr. Montgomery:  
 
This refers to the investigation completed on December 1, 2009, regarding your activities at the 
AREVA NP facilities located in Lynchburg, Virginia and Richland, Washington.  The purpose of 
the investigation was to determine whether you, in your capacity as an Advisory Engineer at the 
time, willfully falsified transportation documents which are material to the U.S. Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission (NRC); and to determine whether you willfully failed to follow the 
requirements to have criticality calculations reviewed and approved.  The preliminary results of 
the investigation, including the identification of two apparent violations, were provided to you by 
NRC letter dated August 10, 2010.   
 
On September 20, 2010, a predecisional enforcement conference was conducted at the NRC’s 
Region II office located in Atlanta, Georgia, with you to discuss the apparent violations, their 
significance, their root causes, and your corrective actions. 
 
Based on the information developed during the investigation and the information that you 
provided during the conference, the NRC has determined that a deliberate violation of NRC 
requirements occurred.  The violation is cited in the enclosed Notice of Violation (Notice) 
(Enclosure 1).  The violation involves the failure to comply with the requirements of 10 CFR 
71.8, “Deliberate Misconduct,” Section (b)(2).  In this case, the NRC concluded that you 
engaged in deliberate misconduct that caused AREVA NP, an NRC licensee, to be in violation 
of 10 CFR 71.5(a) and 49 CFR 172.204(a), involving the transportation of Class 7 (radioactive) 
material.  Specifically, on December 9, 2008, and March 11 and 18, 2009, you deliberately 
altered (falsified) the reference and date stamp on three documents entitled “Approval to Transit 
a UK [United Kingdom] Port.”  These documents are issued by the UK Department for Transport 
(DfT) for transit of shipments of hazardous material (i.e., uranium oxide pellets) through the UK 
on their way to other foreign ports.  Because the DfT transit approvals were falsified, the 
licensee failed to comply with the requirements of 10 CFR 71.5(a) and 49 CFR 172.204(a), 
which requires the licensee to attest to the fact that the contents of the consignment (shipment) 
were in all respects in proper condition for transport according to applicable international and 
national governmental regulations.   
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Because the shipments of Class 7 material on the occasions discussed above satisfied other 
AREVA NP shipping standards as well as applicable regulatory requirements, and safely arrived 
at their final destination, your actions did not cause any actual consequences.  As discussed in 
the enforcement policy, willful violations are of particular concern because the NRC’s regulatory 
program is based on licensees and their contractors, employees and agents acting with 
integrity.  NRC found that your deliberate actions to falsify documents that are used by a foreign 
government responsible for the regulation of radioactive material, on three separate occasions, 
had a significant impact on the NRC’s ability to regulate and oversee export activities.  
Furthermore, your deliberate actions placed AREVA NP in violation of 10 CFR 71.5(a), and  
49 CFR 172.204(a), and placed you in violation of 10 CFR 71.8, Deliberate Misconduct.  
Enclosure 2 to this letter includes a copy of the Confirmatory Order and Notice of Violation 
issued to AREVA NP in this matter.  Given the significant impact to the regulatory process and 
the deliberate nature of your actions, this violation has been categorized in accordance with the 
NRC Enforcement Policy as a Severity Level III violation.   
 
In determining the appropriate sanction to be issued in this case, the NRC considered issuing 
an Order prohibiting your involvement in NRC-licensed activities as a result of your actions.  
However, after consultation with the Director, Office of Enforcement, and after considering the 
circumstances of this case, including the facts that: (1) the actual and potential safety 
consequence was low, and (2) AREVA NP took actions to address your wrongdoing, including 
removing your access to the facility, the NRC has decided to issue the enclosed Notice of 
Violation. 
 
You should be aware that if you are involved in NRC-licensed activities in the future or if we 
discover other past deliberate misconduct, additional deliberate violations could result in more 
significant enforcement or criminal action. 
 
The second apparent violation discussed in the NRC’s letter of August 10, 2010, involved your 
failure to comply with the requirements of 10 CFR 71.8(b)(2), in that you caused AREVA NP to 
be in violation of Administrative Procedure 0402-01, “Calculations,” Revision 038.  The 
procedure specifies that an approver sign off on criticality calculations, indicating the 
independence between the preparer and the reviewer.  On or about March 18, 2009, you were 
involved in both the preparation and review of criticality calculations for an overseas shipment of 
uranium oxide pellets from the AREVA facility.  As such, the independence between the 
preparer and the reviewer as specified by procedure was not satisfied.  The NRC concluded 
that this violation is of lesser significance and will not be cited. 
 
You are required to respond to this letter and should follow the instructions specified in the 
enclosed Notice when preparing your response.  Your response should address the root and 
contributing causes that led to the falsifications, and specific actions you have planned or 
completed to preclude recurrence.  In addition, the NRC requests that your response document 
your extent of condition review as to whether you were directly involved in any additional 
instances of falsified documentation while employed or providing contract services related to 
NRC-licensed activities.  Finally, if you have additional information that you believe the NRC 
should consider, you may provide it in your response to the Notice. The NRC review of your 
response to the Notice will also determine whether further enforcement action is necessary to 
ensure compliance with regulatory requirements.  
 
However, in lieu of providing a response to this letter, you may request alternative dispute 
resolution (ADR) with the NRC under its ADR Program in an attempt to resolve this issue.   
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ADR is a general term encompassing various techniques for resolving conflict using a neutral 
third party.  The technique that the NRC has decided to employ is mediation.  Mediation is an 
informal process in which a neutral third party (i.e. the mediator) works with you and the NRC to 
help the parties reach a resolution. The mediator, whom the parties mutually select, does not 
have any decision-making authority or any stake in the outcome of the mediation. The NRC has 
contracted with the Cornell University’s Institute on Conflict Resolution to facilitate the NRC’s 
program as an intake neutral and as a source of mediators.  Please contact Cornell University at 
(877) 733-9415 within 10 days of the date of this letter if you are interested in pursuing 
resolution of this issue through mediation.  Additional information concerning the NRC’s 
program is described in NUREG/BR-0317 and can be obtained at http://www.nrc.gov/aboutnrc/ 
regulatory/enforcement/adr.html. 
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, its 
enclosures, and your response, will be made available electronically for public inspection in the 
NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC’s document system (ADAMS), accessible from 
the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  To the extent possible, your 
response should not include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that 
it can be made available to the Public without redaction.  The NRC also includes significant 
enforcement actions on its Web site at 
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/enforcement/actions/.  In addition, this letter will 
be maintained by the Office of Enforcement in an NRC Privacy Act system of records, NRC-3, 
Enforcement Actions Against Individuals.  The NRC-3 system notice, which provides detailed 
information about this system of records, can be accessed from the NRC Web site at 
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/foia/privacy-systems.html. 
 
If you have any questions or comments concerning this letter, please contact Mr. Anthony  
T. Gody, Director, Division of Fuel Facilities Inspection, at 404-997-4700.   
 

Sincerely, 
 
            /RA/ 
    

Luis A. Reyes 
 Regional Administrator  
Enclosures: 
1. Notice of Violation 
2. Confirmatory Order 
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NOTICE OF VIOLATION 
 
Mr. Richard Montgomery          IA-10-026 
[HOME ADDRESS 
DELETED PER 10 CFR 2.390] 
 
During an NRC investigation completed on December 1, 2009, a violation of NRC requirements 
was identified.  In accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy, the violation is listed below:  

 
10 CFR 71.8(b) states, in part, that a licensee employee who knowingly provides to a 
licensee services that relate to a licensee’s activities subject to this part may not engage 
in deliberate misconduct that causes, or would have caused, if not detected, a licensee 
to be in violation of any rule or regulation issued by the Commission.    
 
10 CFR 71.5(a) requires, in part, that each licensee who delivers licensed material to a 
carrier for transport, shall comply with the applicable requirements of the U. S. 
Department of Transportation regulations in 49 CFR parts 107, 171 through 180, and 
390 through 397, appropriate to the mode of transport. 
 
49 CFR 172.204(a) requires, in part, that each person who offers a hazardous material 
for transportation shall certify that the material is offered for transportation in accordance 
with this subchapter by printing (manually or mechanically) on the shipping paper the 
certification (declaration) containing the language contained in paragraph (a)(2) of this 
section. 
 
49 CFR 172.204(a)(2) requires the following declaration from each person who offers a 
hazardous material for transportation, “I hereby declare that the contents of this 
consignment are fully and accurately described above by the proper shipping name, and 
are classified, packaged, marked and labeled/placarded, and are in all respects in 
proper condition for transport according to applicable international and national 
governmental regulations.” 
 
Contrary to the above, on three occasions, Mr. Richard Montgomery, Advisory Engineer 
for AREVA, NP, engaged in deliberate misconduct that caused his employer, AREVA 
NP, to be in violation of 10 CFR 71.5(a) and 49 CFR 172.204(a).  Specifically, on 
December 9, 2008, and on March 11 and 18, 2009, Mr. Montgomery deliberately altered 
(falsified) the reference and date stamp on three documents entitled “Approval to Transit 
a UK [United Kingdom] Port”, issued by the United Kingdom’s Department for Transport 
(DfT).   Because the DfT transit approvals were falsified, the licensee failed to comply 
with 49 CFR 172.204(a) which requires the licensee to attest to the fact that the contents 
of the consignment (shipment) were in all respects in proper condition for transport 
according to applicable international and national governmental regulations.  The forms 
are material to the NRC, in that the evidence proper certification for shipments of 
hazardous material (uranium oxide pellets) in accordance with the applicable 
requirements of the U.S. Department of Transportation regulations in 49 CFR parts 107, 
171 through 180, and 390 through 397, appropriate to the mode of transport.   
 

This is a Severity Level III Violation (Supplement VI). 
 

Enclosure 1 
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Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Mr. Montgomery is hereby required to submit a 
written statement or explanation to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN: Document 
Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555-0001 with a copy to the Regional Administrator, Region II, 
within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this Notice of Violation (Notice).  This reply 
should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of Violation; IA-10-026" and should include for 
each violation:  (1) the reason for the violation, or, if contested, the basis for disputing the 
violation or severity level, (2) the corrective steps that have been taken and the results 
achieved, (3) the corrective steps that will be taken, and (4) the date when full compliance will 
be achieved.  Your response may reference or include previous docketed correspondence, if 
the correspondence adequately addresses the required response.  If an adequate reply is not 
received within the time specified in this Notice, an order or a Demand for Information may be 
issued as to why such other action as may be proper should not be taken.  Where good cause 
is shown, consideration will be given to extending the response time.  
 
If you contest this enforcement action, you should also provide a copy of your response, with 
the basis for your denial, to the Director, Office of Enforcement, United States Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC  20555-0001. 
 
Because your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC 
Public Document Room or from the NRC’s document system (ADAMS), accessible from the 
NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html to the extent possible, it should not 
include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made 
available to the public without redaction.  If personal privacy or proprietary information is 
necessary to provide an acceptable response, then please provide a bracketed copy of your 
response that identifies the information that should be protected and a redacted copy of your 
response that deletes such information.  If you request withholding of such material, you must 
specifically identify the portions of your response that you seek to have withheld and provide in 
detail the bases for your claim of withholding (e.g., explain why the disclosure of information will 
create an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy or provide the information required by 10 
CFR 2.390(b) to support a request for withholding confidential commercial or financial 
information).  If safeguards information is necessary to provide an acceptable response, please 
provide the level of protection described in 10 CFR 73.21. 
 
Dated this 2nd day of December 2010 
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